Hindawi Journal of Obesity Volume 2019, Article ID 4756260, 6 pages https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/4756260

Review Article

Health Promotion and Obesity in the Arab Gulf States: Challenges and Good Practices

Anastasia Samara D, Pernille Tanggaard Andersen, and Arja R. Aro

Unit for Health Promotion Research, University of Southern Denmark, Niels Bohrs Vej 9-10, Esbjerg 6700, Denmark

Correspondence should be addressed to Anastasia Samara; anastasia.samara@outlook.com

Received 7 October 2018; Revised 6 February 2019; Accepted 14 May 2019; Published 9 June 2019

Academic Editor: Tazeen H. Jafar

Copyright © 2019 Anastasia Samara et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

This debate paper focuses on available strategies, policies, and challenges of health promotion for combating obesity in the Arab Gulf states (Saudi Arabia, Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, and Qatar). The paper focuses on the abovementioned countries due to their similarity on many aspects and because of their alarming obesity rates that are on the rise and keep increasing. The paper argues that there are significant efforts to be made in sectors such as policies, intersectoral work, primary healthcare, health promotion strategies development, and qualified personnel for health promotion and health education. Among the six states, Qatar, United Arab Emirates, and to a degree Oman have shown some development with regard to the implementation and evaluation of obesity-related health promotion policies, and thus other Arab Gulf countries could be inspired by existing good practices and move from good intentions to using their available wealth to invest in the implementation and evaluation of published policies and strategies. All Arab Gulf countries are in need of more qualified personnel and the development of infrastructure that can help tackle the growing obesity challenge that such countries are experiencing.

1. Obesity Prevention in the Arab Gulf States

The six Arab Gulf states are among the countries that have very high levels of obesity and overweight individuals. Around 30% or more of the population in these countries is obese (>or = to 30 kg/m^2), and more than 60% have a weight range higher than normal (>or = to 25 kg/m^2). Similar obesity and/or overweight levels are found also in other Middle Eastern countries, in the Maghreb countries, and also in the United States, New Zealand, Canada, Australia, and in some European countries [1]. Table 1 shows the prevalence of overweight and obesity for males and females in the Gulf States for 2016 [1]. It also shows the population for each country based on the latest estimate or census [2-7]. Table 1 also shows the prevalence of type 2 diabetes by gender. The highest rates are seen in KSA, Kuwait, and Qatar, and they are similar (more than 10%) to other Eastern Mediterranean countries such as Lebanon, Turkey, and Egypt as well as Morocco, Algeria, and Tunisia but are higher than those rates recorded in the USA, Australia, or UK [8].

The alarming levels of obesity and overweight have awakened the Gulf countries to develop country- and community-level health promotion strategies in the last few years. For example, these kinds of strategies have been in place in the Nordic countries [9, 10] in Australia and New Zealand [11] and in Switzerland [12] for more than ten years.

The aim of this debate paper is to present and discuss the main challenges that the Arab Gulf states face in relation to health promotion and obesity. This debate is particularly important because of the rise of the obesity epidemic in these countries. Important aspects in health promotion are policy development, building up intersectoral work, establishing primary healthcare centers as settings [13], developing workforce capacity in health promotion as well as prioritizing health education, and health promotion at leadership and governance [14].

	KSA	Kuwait	Bahrain	Qatar	United Arab Emirates	Oman
Population	32,612,641	4,132,415	1,423,726	2,700,539	9,121,167	4,634,812
	(2017)	(2016)	(2016)	(2017)	(2016)	(2017)
Surface area (square km)	2,149,690	17,188	774	11,628	77,700	309,500
Obesity prevalence (male) 2016	31%	33%	26%	33%	28%	23%
Obesity prevalence (female) 2016	42%	46%	37%	43%	41%	34%
Overweight and obesity prevalence (male) 2016	68%	72%	64%	71%	66%	61%
Overweight and obesity prevalence (female) 2016	72%	75%	69%	73%	71%	66%
Type 2 diabetes prevalence (male) 2016	15%	15%	9%	13%	8%	7%
Type 2 diabetes prevalence (female) 2016	14%	15%	8%	13%	9%	8%

TABLE 1: General characteristics of the Gulf states.

2. What Are the Main Challenges for the Arab Gulf States?

The Arab Gulf states share similar cultural, political, and geographical characteristics. They are all wealthy states with high standards of living (GDP for 2016 ranging from 32.179 billion for Bahrain to 646.438 billion for Saudi Arabia) [15] that have been particularly exposed to and influenced by the western way of life, including eating habits (fast food and processed food) and physical inactivity (ways of commuting, working environments, and types of work). A study showed that physical inactivity, for example, in Saudi Arabia is not related to sociocultural factors but rather to lack of facilities for women to practice sports [16]. On the contrary, the Arab Gulf states are also quite different in terms of size, population, and governance from a centralized system in Saudi Arabia, to a decentralized system in Oman, and to local governance, like a city state in all other Gulf states due to their small size and population.

It is very common that health promotion is seen/ interpreted as awareness campaigns and that dietary choices as well as physical activity are purely individual choices. The dominant concept worldwide has been that of risk, and the individual is put in the position of personal responsibility to reduce this risk [13]; the Arab Gulf states are no exception to this interpretation. However, there are other wider social and environmental determinants for obesity such as marketing, taxes, pricing, and availability of healthy food, physical activity facilities, and cultural traditions. Only targeting individuals and neglecting these wider, social, and ecological determinants of behaviors and consumption is not sufficient to curb the obesity epidemic in the Arab Gulf states. This debate paper identifies central areas of challenges, including policies, intersectoral work, the role of primary healthcare, and lack of qualified staff, which all require further development in the Arab Gulf countries to curb the obesity epidemic. A more elaborate work on the strategies and policies of the Gulf states will be presented in a future book chapter [17].

2.1. Policies. Policies are an integral part of health promotion, and some policies relating to school environments [18], food labeling [19], and others are very important for

combating obesity. Evidence also exists that catering services in schools and workplaces contribute to healthy eating habits in the population [20]. Good examples of healthy meal policies implemented in schools and workplace canteens come from Sweden and Finland [9, 20, 21].

All Arab Gulf states have made some efforts with regard to prevention and health promotion policies and meant implementation such as (1) soft drink taxation adopted by Saudi Arabia [22] and United Arab Emirates [23], (2) banning soft drinks and junk food in hospitals in Qatar [24], (3) workplace health promotion in Qatar [25] and United Arab Emirates where it mostly focused on government entities [26], and (4) nutrition and/or physical activity at the school setting in Qatar [27], United Arab Emirates [28–30], Bahrain [31], and Oman [32]. Qatar and United Arab Emirates are the most advanced when it comes to developing and implementing policies at the school setting, e.g., when it comes to introducing physical education courses for all schools [33, 34].

However, most of the Arab Gulf countries lack important local policies in schools, for example, the availability of healthy food and beverages in school canteens, regular screening for obesity and overweight, and extracurricular activities. In addition to the above, work environment policies and food labeling policies are needed. Saudi Arabia showed an example by introducing a mandatory regulation to mark calories in all restaurant menus as of 2019 [35]. Food labeling both in restaurants and (packaged) food items for sale is urgently needed for the population to make informed food choices. Furthermore, the Arab Gulf countries could also establish a food database for the use of all citizens in line with the Finnish food database [36].

2.2. Intersectoral Work. Intersectoral work is the backbone of health promotion and for applying the principle of "Health in All Policies." This strategy aims to include health considerations in policymaking across different sectors that influence health, such as transportation, agriculture, land use, housing, public safety, and education [37]. "Health in All Policies" is adopted in Nordic countries [9], in Australia [38], and in the Netherlands [39].

The approach "Health in All Policies" has been initiated in Oman [40], United Arab Emirates [41], and Qatar [42]

which has involved the collaboration of the Ministry of Education, Municipalities, academia, sports councils, etc. A clear example is the development of the National Healthcare Strategy 2011–2016 for Qatar as a common effort of many stakeholders (Ministry of Interior, Supreme Council for Family Affairs, and Permanent Population Committee) [42]. However, the Oman strategy is still in the implementation stage.

On the contrary, Saudi Arabia, Bahrain, and Kuwait do not show established intersectoral work. These countries often do not mention intersectoral work in their national healthcare strategies [43–45].

In light of the current situation of the Arab Gulf states, it is time for them to introduce the "Health in All Policies" approach to create dynamic interactions across different societal sectors and on different levels of the society (national, regional, and local) to create the infrastructures and environments which could enable healthy choices and an active lifestyle for citizens.

2.3. Primary Healthcare. Primary healthcare should be the main healthcare entry point for citizens and also a major actor in promoting health and evaluating the status of the population. Primary healthcare contributions have shown positive results in obesity reduction [46, 47], for example, Finland with its Health Care Act of 2010 that included health-promoting activities as part of primary healthcare purposes [48] and Canada with many examples of health promotion incorporated in primary healthcare [49].

Primary healthcare is not yet established as an entry point for all Arab Gulf states. In addition, in most of them, the primary healthcare centers do not even play a significant role in health promotion, and future plans for them in current healthcare reforms (all Arab Gulf states are going through them) do not suggest enhancing this role [43, 44]. Qatar is the only example that puts primary healthcare at the forefront of action for health promotion [25]. In Abu Dhabi, primary healthcare centers have facilitated the screening of the population for noncommunicable disease risk factors (Weqaya program) [50]; however, they do not have any further roles and tasks in health promotion.

Definitely, some of the Arab Gulf states such as Oman and Saudi Arabia have different priorities for primary healthcare since they strive to ensure basic services before even considering health-promoting activities [40, 43]. However, with the increasing obesity problem, the above argument is no longer sufficient for neglecting these services. There is a need for primary healthcare in both countries to increase awareness of structural health promotion, including disease prevention strategies, the policy level, and contextually salient and setting-based interventions.

2.4. Qualified Personnel and the Specialization Issue. Appropriate human resources are crucial in fulfilling tasks and functions related to health promotion in the primary care sector and in the health sector in general [13]. Examples of countries with highly qualified health promotion professionals are the USA [51] and Canada [52].

A common problem for all of the Arab Gulf states is the current limited number of specialized personnel in health promotion and health education especially for Saudi Arabia that needs to cover a big population (32,612,641 for 2017) [2]. In general, healthcare is lacking competent and qualified personnel that are nationals and sufficient in numbers to cover current needs. Such states majorly depend on foreign specialists for different areas. For example, Saudi Arabia requires foreign staff for all specializations in public health due to its size [53], whereas Kuwait is lacking professionals mostly for policy, strategy, and plan development as well as in the fields of nursing and dentistry [414]. Bahrain [54] and Oman [55] are exceptions in their capacity for public health professionals (such as nutritionists and health educators although not health promoters).

With regard to health education, there are some bachelor-level health education programs, e.g., in Saudi Arabia [56, 57], but there is a clear need for more focused and prioritized university departments/units/curricula for health promotion/health education at the national levels in the Arab Gulf States. One solution is to offer tailor-made professional level courses in evidence-based, multilevel, contextual health promotion interventions.

Training professionals will require time and resources but would be very important in building the needed competences and infrastructure for health promotion to comprehensively tackle the regional obesity challenge.

2.5. National Programs and Action Plans. National obesity programs with concrete action plans and follow-ups are needed.

A solid national strategy for nutrition/physical activity/ health promotion with specific goals, targets, actors involved, procedures, implementation, and evaluation processes is needed to create changes in health promotion and obesity [14]. Examples of national programs related to obesity exist from different countries such as France [58] and UK [59].

All Arab Gulf states have developed at least one document on health promotion that focuses on nutrition and physical activity. However, with the exception of Qatar [41] and Abu Dhabi [50] that have several concrete strategy documents, all other countries only have issued documents that are limited with time-specific goals, ways of follow-up, tangible expected outcomes, specific procedures, etc. This makes the efforts of each country somehow arbitrary and not enough focused on specific actions/programs.

Implementation and evaluation are very important for health promotion strategies as they are for any strategy. The major problem in most cases in the Arab Gulf states is that the strategies are often not implemented or followed up, and also health educators and heath promoters often are not at the backbone of these strategies. Due to these two factors, the strategies remain good intentions with little value even if they are well articulated and developed on paper. There is a need to establish an institutional system, which links intersectional work, prioritizes tasks, and gives a framework for health promotion initiatives at different levels and the

possibility to develop standards for implementation and evaluation. For this kind of system to function cost-effectively, accountability must be assigned to certain actors.

The Arab Gulf states need to consider seriously the development of such programs and action plans with the support of policymakers, health promoters, and other professionals that are experts in different fields related to health. One way of addressing this challenge can be through providing more significant budgets for health promotion programs and employing experienced (foreign or local if available) professionals. In the same direction, it is important to strengthen the presence of health promotion departments that are often nonexistent and the presence of health promotion in departments of other ministries as a part of a "Health in All Policies" approach.

3. Conclusion

For the Arab Gulf states, the biggest challenges are as follows: (1) the development of substantial health promotion strategies, especially their implementation and evaluation and the administrative structure around health promotion, (2) the availability of national competent professionals for health promotion, and (3) the development of multilevel and intersectoral work and in general applying a "Health in All Policies" approach. These are important challenges that require serious consideration because they are at the root of developing a solid and consistent health promotion strategy to combat the challenges of obesity. Qatar and the United Arab Emirates provide examples of some efforts in that direction but need more focused and elaborate work and a more institutional system to create sustainability. On a final note, the Arab Gulf countries need to focus their efforts more towards these aspects of their health strategy or else will face the increasing costs of diabetes care and the increase of other chronic conditions related to obesity more and more in the coming years.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

References

- [1] World Health Organization (WHO), "Global health observatory data: overweight and obesity," 2016, http://www.who.int/gho/ncd/risk_factors/overweight_obesity/obesity_adults/en/.
- [2] General Authority for Statistics KSA, "Population estimates," 2017, https://www.stats.gov.sa/en/43.
- [3] Central Statistical Bureau, "Population estimates in midyear," in *Central Statistical*, Kuwait City, Kuwait, 2016, https://www.csb.gov.kw/Socan_Statistic_EN.aspx?ID=67.
- [4] Open Data Portal Bahrain, "Quick figures. Estimated population," 2016, http://www.data.gov.bh.
- [5] Ministry of Development Planning and Statistics Qatar, "Indicators, total population count," 2017, http://www.mdps. gov.qa/en/statistics1/Pages/default.aspx.
- [6] Federal Competitiveness and Statistics Authority, "Population," Federal Competitiveness and Statistics Authority,

- Dubai, UAE, 2016, http://fcsa.gov.ae/en-us/Pages/Statistics/UAE-Population-2016.aspx.
- [7] National Center for Statistics and Information Oman, "Total population," 2017, http://data.gov.om/OMPOP2016/ population?indicator=1000140.
- [8] World Health Organization (WHO), "Diabetes country profiles," 2016, https://www.who.int/diabetes/country-profiles/en/#S
- [9] A. Stockmarr, T. Hejgaard, and J. Matthiessen, "Obesity prevention in the Nordic countries," *Current Obesity Reports*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 156–165, 2016.
- [10] J. Panter, P. Tanggaard Andersen, A. R. Aro, and A. Samara, "Obesity prevention: a systematic review of setting-based interventions from Nordic countries and the Netherlands," *Journal of Obesity*, vol. 2018, Article ID 7093260, 34 pages, 2018.
- [11] B. Swinburn and A. Wood, "Progress on obesity prevention over 20 years in Australia and New Zealand," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 14, no. S2, pp. 60–68, 2013.
- [12] G. Ackermann, M. Kirschner, L. Guggenbühl, B. Abel, A. Klohn, and T. Mattig, "Measuring success in obesity prevention: a synthesis of health promotion Switzerland's long-term monitoring and evaluation strategy," *Obesity Facts*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 17–29, 2015.
- [13] J. Green, K. Tones, R. Cross, and J. Woodall, Health Promotion: Planning & Strategies, SAGE, Thousand Oaks, CA, USA, 3rd edition, 2015.
- [14] C. Aluttis, S. Van den Broucke, C. Chiotan, C. Costongs, K. Michelsen, and H. Brand, "Public health and health promotion capacity at national and regional level: a review of conceptual frameworks," *Journal of Public Health Research*, vol. 3, no. 1, p. 199, 2014.
- [15] The World Bank, "World Bank Data: GDP," 2016, https://data. worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD?locations=BH.
- [16] A. Samara, A. R. Aro, T. Alrammah, and A. Nistrup, "Lack of facilities rather than sociocultural factors as the primary barrier to physical activity among female Saudi university students," *International Journal of Women's Health*, vol. 7, pp. 279–286, 2015.
- [17] A. Samara, P. Tanggaard Andersen, and A. R. Aro, "Health promotion for preventing obesity in the Arab Gulf states," in *Handbook of Healthcare in the Arab World*, Springer, Switzerland, In press.
- [18] J. F. Chriqui, M. Pickel, and M. Story, "Influence of school competitive food and beverage policies on obesity, consumption, and availability," *JAMA Pediatrics*, vol. 168, no. 3, pp. 279–286, 2014.
- [19] M. Cecchini and L. Warin, "Impact of food labelling systems on food choices and eating behaviours: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized studies," *Obesity Reviews*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 201–210, 2016.
- [20] S. Raulio, E. Roos, and R. Prättälä, "School and workplace meals promote healthy food habits," *Public Health Nutrition*, vol. 13, no. 6A, pp. 987–992, 2010.
- [21] R. Šidagytė, M. Eglite, A. Salmi et al., "The legislative backgrounds of workplace health promotion in three European countries: a comparative analysis," *Journal of Occupational Medicine and Toxicology*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 18, 2015.
- [22] P. Deulgaonkar, "Saudi Arabia introduces 'sin tax' from today," Arabian Business, April 2017, http://www.arabianbusiness. com/saudi-arabia-introduces-sin-tax-from-today-677317.html.
- [23] P. Deulgaonkar, "UAE to impose excise tax on soft drinks starting," Arabian Business, April 2017, http://www.arabianbusiness.com/uae-impose-excise-tax-on-soft-drinks-starting-in-2017-673637.html.

[24] F. Saleem, "Food and beverages guidelines for hospitals issued," The Peninsula Qatar, 2017, https://thepeninsulaqatar.com/article/28/02/2017/Food-beverage-guidelines-for-hospitals-issued.

- [25] Primary Health Care Corporation (PHCC), Building the Foundation: National Primary Healthcare Strategy 2013–2018, Primary Health Care Corporation, Doha, Qatar, April 2017, http://www.nhsq.info/app/media/889.
- [26] Health Authority-Abu Dhabi (HAAD), Weqaya Workplace Wellness to Reduce Morbidity and Mortality in the Workplace, Health Authority-Abu Dhabi, Abu Dhabi, UAE, 2012, https://www.haad.ae/haad/tabid/58/ctl/Details/Mid/417/ItemID/349/Default.aspx.
- [27] G. Sharma, "Qatar's Education Ministry bans junk food in school canteens," Qatar Day, May 2017, http://www.qatarday. com/news/local/qatars-education-ministry-bans-junk-food-inschool/41469.
- [28] Abu Dhabi Education Council (ADEC), "Public schools policy manual," 2015, https://www.adec.ac.ae/en/MediaCenter/Publications/Public%20Schools%20Policy%20Manual%20E/files/assets/common/downloads/publication.pdf.
- [29] Emirates 24/7 News, "New school canteen rules for Abu Dhabi," 2015, http://www.emirates247.com/news/emirates/ new-school-canteen-rules-for-abu-dhabi-2015-09-05-1.602379.
- [30] Ministry of Education (MOE) UAE, "A brand new of the physical and health education reform in the UAE," 2017, https://www.moe.gov.ae/En/MediaCenter/News/Pages/sport.aspx.
- [31] Public Health Directorate Bahrain, "Annual report," in *Public Health Directorate*, Public Health Directorate, Manama, Bahrain, 2014, https://www.moh.gov.bh/Content/Files/Publications/X_635906124344978750.pdf.
- [32] World Health Organization (WHO), "Health promoting schools initiative," in *World Health Organization, Muscat*, Muscat, Oman, 2013, http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/120000/1/EMROPUB_2013_EN_1587.pdf.
- [33] Ministry of Development Planning and Statistics, "National development strategy 2011–2016," 2011, https://www.mdps.gov.qa/en/nds1/Pages/default.aspx.
- [34] MOE UAE, "A brand new physical and health education reform in the UAE," 2017, https://www.moe.gov.ae/En/MediaCenter/News/Pages/sport.aspx.
- [35] K. Gillett, "Saudi Arabia brings in mandatory calorie labels on menus," The National UAE, February 2019, https://www. thenational.ae/uae/health/saudi-arabia-brings-in-mandatorycalorie-labels-on-menus-1.808556.
- [36] National Institute for Health and Welfare, "FINELI: the national food composition database in Finland," February 2019, https://fineli.fi/fineli/en/index.
- [37] World Health Organization (WHO), The Helsinki Statement of Health in All Policies, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 2018, http://www.who.int/healthpromotion/ conferences/8gchp/8gchp_helsinki_statement.pdf.
- [38] A. P. Lawless, C. Williams, C. Hurley, D. Wildgoose, A. Sawford, and I. Kickbusch, "Health in all policies: evaluating the South Australian approach to intersectoral action for health," *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, vol. 103, pp. S15–S19, 2012.
- [39] M. Steenbakkers, M. Jansen, H. Maarse, and N. de Vries, "Challenging health in all policies, an action research study in Dutch municipalities," *Health Policy*, vol. 105, no. 2-3, pp. 288–295, 2012.
- [40] Ministry of Health (MOH) Oman, "Health Vision 2050," 2014, https://www.moh.gov.om/documents/16506/119833/Health+ Vision+2050/7b6f40f3-8f93-4397-9fde-34e04026b829.

[41] Health Authority-Abu Dhabi (HAAD), "Strategic partner-ship," March 2017, https://www.haad.ae/haad/tabid/639/Default.aspx.

- [42] Supreme Council of Health (SCH) Qatar, "Executive summary to the national health strategy 2011–2016," May 2017, http://www.nhsq.info/app/media/2908.
- [43] Ministry of Health (MOH) KSA, "Saudi MOH strategic plan (Arabic)," 2012, http://www.moh.gov.sa/Portal/WhatsNew/Documents/OKIstragi260p.pdf.
- [44] World Health Organization (WHO), "The country cooperation strategy for WHO and Kuwait for 2012–2016," 2014, http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/113231/1/ CCS_Kuwait_2014_EN_15234.pdf.
- [45] Ministry of Health (MOH) Bahrain, "Health improvement strategy 2015–2018," March 2017, https://www.moh.gov.bh/ Content/Files/Health_Improvement_Strategy(2015-2018).pdf.
- [46] S. S. Bhuyan, A. Chandak, P. Smith, E. L. Carlton, K. Duncan, and D. Gentry, "Integration of public health and primary care: a systematic review of the current literature in primary care physician mediated childhood obesity interventions," *Obesity Research & Clinical Practice*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 539–552, 2015.
- [47] M. Vine, M. B. Hargreaves, R. R. Briefel, and C. Orfield, "Expanding the role of primary care in the prevention and treatment of childhood obesity: a review of clinic- and community-based recommendations and interventions," *Journal of Obesity*, vol. 2013, pp. 1–17, 2013.
- [48] Ministry of Social Affairs and Health Finland, "Health care act," 2010, https://www.finlex.fi/fi/laki/kaannokset/2010/ en20101326.pdf.
- [49] J. Frankish, G. Moulton, and D. Gray, "Health promotion in primary healthcare settings: suggested approach to established criteria," 2000, http://sites.utoronto.ca/chp/CCHPR/HPinprimarycare.pdf.
- [50] Health Authority-Abu Dhabi (HAAD), "Weqaya program document," March 2017, https://www.haad.ae/HAAD/ LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=VQX0QEUfbWc%3D&tabid=1174.
- [51] American College Health Association (ACHA), Guidelines for Hiring Health Professionals in Higher Education, American College Health Association, Hanover, MD, USA, 2nd edition, 2014, https://www.acha.org/documents/resources/guidelines/ ACHA_Hiring_Health_Promotion_Professionals_in_Higher_ Ed_May2014.pdf.
- [52] Health Promotion Canada, "Honouring excellence in health promotion across Canada," February 2018, https://www.healthpromotioncanada.ca/honouring-excellence-in-healthpromotion-across-canada/.
- [53] M. Almalki, G. Fitzgerald, and M. Clark, "Health care system in Saudi Arabia: an overview," *Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal*, vol. 17, no. 10, pp. 784–793, 2011.
- [54] Ministry of Health (MOH) Bahrain, "Distribution of health institutions by governorates in 2014," 2015, https://www.moh. gov.bh/Content/Files/Publications/statistics/HS2014/PDF/map %20of%20health%20institutions_2014.pdf.
- [55] Ministry of Health (MOH) Oman, "Five-year plan for health development 2011–2015," 2015, http://www.nationalplanningcycles. org/sites/default/files/country_docs/Oman/five_year_plan_for_health_development_2011-2015.pdf.
- [56] Princess Noura Bint Abdulrahman University (PNU) KSA: College of Health and Rehabilitation Sciences, February 2017, http://www.pnu.edu.sa/en/Faculties/Health-Rehabilitation/ Health-Sciences/Pages/Paths-section.aspx.
- [57] University of Southern Denmark (SDU), "Unit for health promotion research, study programme," September 2017, http://www.sdu.dk/en/om_sdu/institutter_centre/ist_sundhedstjenesteforsk/forskning/sundhedsfremme/uddannelse.

[58] French National Nutrition and Health program (PNNS) 2011–2015, February 2018, http://solidarites-sante.gouv.fr/ IMG/pdf/PNNS_UK_INDD_V2.pdf.

[59] Department of Health and Social Care, UK, "Childhood obesity: a plan for action," 2017, https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childhood-obesity-a-plan-for-action/childhood-obesity-a-plan-for-action.